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Introduction





Reviewing Indiana Jones and the Last Crusade (1989), the long-time New Yorker critic Pauline Kael mentioned ‘a friend … who’s in his early fifties and is eminent in his field [who] says that when he grows up he wants to be Sean Connery’.1 Him and every other guy born in the past half-century or so. Certainly you can’t be a child of the sixties, as I am, and not have given over several moments of your life to regretting the fact that you are not Sean Connery. From the moment I first set eyes on Connery, in a clip from Diamonds Are Forever (1971) on the BBC children’s movie quiz Screen Test, at least part of my fate as a dreamer was sealed. Whoever this man was (‘He’s a has-been,’ my father told me over dinner), he had showed me a vision of the man I wanted to be. In other words, he was a movie star – one of our age’s secular icons. As Philip Kaufman, who directed Connery in Rising Sun (1993), once said, ‘There’s a sense in which people go to films to learn how to behave; the fact is people are very attracted by the way Sean behaves. They have an empathy with him – or they would like to have empathy. They would like to feel that they have his qualities, his grace under pressure.’2


I have, I should stress, no wish to know Sean Connery. I have no fantasies about our being best buddies. I find all varieties of nationalism offensive and stupid; golf and football – Connery’s favourite sports – bore me; and beyond his own career he has never exhibited much interest in film history. Besides, all the reports suggest that he is a combative soul who grows prickly at the idea of being the object of even distanced veneration. He has never really understood the mania he is still, turning 80, capable of inducing. Partly, I suspect, this is because Connery himself didn’t grow up venerating anyone. Though as a child he occasionally went to the cinema, he has never to my knowledge admitted to being fond of any particular star. Unlike, say, Michael Caine, who grew up wanting to imitate the derring-do of Errol Flynn and the insolent jabber of Humphrey Bogart, Connery nursed no fantasies of being Edinburgh’s Clark Gable (as he might so easily have done). Indeed, the movies, the theatre, narrative itself, didn’t really impact on him until he was well into his twenties. So the realisation, in his thirties, that there were people out there whose lives were lived through vicarious reveries came as a huge shock to him. His own feet planted firmly on the ground, he couldn’t begin to conceive why so many men had their heads in the clouds.


There’s no denying, of course, that part of the wish to be Connery is a wish to be what Kael called ‘the smooth operator James Bond’.3 A few months back the cover of the Radio Times was given over to a picture of the TV star Rupert Penry-Jones, suitably attired in black tie and tuxedo, atop the words ‘I want to be Bond’. Granted, Penry-Jones is an actor and thus has as much of a professional as a personal interest in the fantasy so many men share. But what of the man who is our new prime minister? For in the same week of that Radio Times cover, the Conservative leader David Cameron used an interview in the Guardian to assure us that, while he is a Bond obsessive (at school he had a complete collection of the original novels lined up chronologically on his shelves), the rumours of his wanting to be Bond were untrue. ‘I am not Bond,’ he rather unnervingly assured us. ‘I just love the films, I’m afraid. The escapism … The books are very good, but I just love the films.’4


That clunking sound you hear is of a man hedging his bets. For Cameron, like Bond’s first begetter Ian Fleming, is an Old Etonian. Unlike Fleming, though, Cameron is keen to play down his patrician roots. Whereas Fleming was an unreconstructed stuffed shirt appalled at the casting of what he called ‘that fucking truck driver’ in Harry Saltzman and Albert Broccoli’s movie version of Dr No (1962), Cameron is a populist wise to the idea that most of us prefer the democratised snobbery of the Bond films to the elitist snobbery of the books. Which is a way of saying that while Fleming might have kick-started this fantasy, it was Sean Connery who actually got it on the road and motored it round the world. If part of wanting to be Connery is wanting to be Bond, that is, the whole of wanting to be Bond is wanting to be Connery. Nobody ever fancied themselves the next Roger Moore.


You can call these starry identification fantasies childish, and doubtless they are. But childishness exists, and it may be more childish to believe adults can divorce themselves entirely from it than to admit that they occasionally go with its flow. Which is a way of saying that this is a book about the movies and what they have done to us. Read it and you will, I believe, get a pretty accurate account of what we know of Sean Connery’s eight decades on the planet. But Connery has not cooperated on the book – just as he has not helped any previous biographer – and for the purposes of research I have had recourse to the same few interviews he has granted a handful of journalists over the years. Nor were many people who know or have worked with Connery willing to talk to me about him. What we know of Connery’s private life, then, amounts to very little – little more, in fact, than that he does not suffer fools gladly and is quite handy with a golf club.


We know even less about the private life of Leonardo da Vinci, of course, and the sources on him are finite in a way they are not yet on Connery, though that doesn’t stop critics and historians and biographers writing about him. The same goes for Michelangelo and Shakespeare. And no, I am not surreptitiously lining Connery up in exalted company – merely making the point that biographies get written about people not because of who they are but because of what they have done. Without the Mona Lisa and those prototype helicopters and artillery, those pencil studies of horses and fluvia, what possible interest could Leonardo have for us? Who would Shakespeare be had he not written those plays and poems? The same goes for Sean Connery. Without his work in the movies, what hold could he have over anyone but his friends and family? It may be that when he is dead all number of people come crawling out of the woodwork to bitch and moan about the real-life Connery they knew. Some of what they want to tell us may even be verifiably true. But so what? We can all of us be bitched and moaned about. Not many of us have managed to sustain a career of international movie stardom for nigh on half a century.


Which means that what holds our attention about Connery is something more – and something less – than a man. The character you and I refer to when we talk about Sean Connery is just that: a character, a construct, a fiction – and a fiction composed of sundry other fictions at that. Back in the sixties, as his movies broke box-office record after box-office record, it was commonplace to refer to Connery as a phenomenon. But in the Kantian scheme of things the term is more generally applicable. All we know about Connery is what Kant would have called the phenomenon – his weight, his height, his colouring, his sensorily apprehensible presence in the world. As to the Connery noumenon – what he is really like beneath that crust of apprehensions – well, that is another matter. All we can meaningfully talk about is his work in the movies.


Is it, though, sensible or fair to talk about Sean Connery’s work in the movies? Isn’t he just an actor at the service of directors and producers and screenwriters? The answer is both a qualified yes and a qualified no. Certainly in his early days, Connery – like all struggling actors – was absolutely at the behest of those above him in the cinematic pecking order. But since the Bond series sent him soaring into fame’s empyrean he has pretty much run things the way he wants. If he wants to change a character here, a line of dialogue there, a plot twist at the end of the second act, he can and does. True, he has never written a script (though he has helped out on the rewrites of many of the movies he has appeared in). True, he has never directed a film (though he has directed a few stage productions, and in later years has been executive producer of several pictures). On the other hand, movies have been made simply because of his existence. Connery doesn’t just appear in movies. Movies appear around him, around the idea of his very presence. Back in the early 1950s, Terence Young, who would go on to direct three of the first four Bond pictures, was feted by a number of French auteurist critics, yet which of us has ever said, ‘Let’s go see the new Terence Young movie’? Countless, though, are they who have raced to see ‘the new Sean Connery movie’.


I am one of those people. I like watching Sean Connery. I like watching him move through a room. I like watching him sit down and cross his legs. I especially like watching him open and close doors. I like the way he curls his lips as he changes down a gear. I like the idea of a big, big man being so light on his feet. Part of the reason I like the idea is because I wish the same could be said about me – average height, clumsy and heavy-footed. This need to be in the company of another being – a need, in a way, to be that other being – is, I think, not that different from love.


Except that love is almost universally celebrated as a positive force in the world, and I am not at all sure that the increasingly second-hand lives so many of us have led since the invention of the movies are any good to anybody. At school and at university I was taught that the novel and the drama find their moral worth in taking people out of themselves so that they can see the world through the eyes of others. Reading, that is, makes good little liberals of us. Well, maybe, though as the critics George Steiner and Stanley Fish have pointed out, there is a lot of evidence to countermand the belief. But whatever, I don’t believe such a claim could ever have been reasonably made about the movies. Novels and plays just might one day be found to have been good for us. The movies, which like so many other developments of free market capitalism might have been invented to make us less happy, are never going to be able to stake a similar claim.


For the movies, it is becoming clear, have ruined us. They have made Jay Gatsbys of all who have fallen under their spell. They have encouraged us in directionless dreaming, they have indulged us in our fondness for surfaces and sentiment, they have made us measure ourselves against improbable standards of beauty and grace under pressure, they have helped us to forget our need for truths that cannot be trapped in light, they have made it far too easy to fall in – and therefore out of – love, they have made fantasising ironists of us all. There is nothing more manipulable than desire, and movies and their stars are a way of making sure both that we do not want what we have and cannot have what we want. So we would be better off without them – which does not mean that I shall ever stop being grateful for having been around while Sean Connery was doing his stuff …




Notes – Introduction


1. New Yorker, 12 June 1989. Reprinted in Pauline Kael, Movie Love (Plume, 1991), p. 145.


2. Zoë Heller, ‘Great Scot’, Vanity Fair, June 1993.


3. Kael, op. cit.


4. See the Radio Times, 19–25 July 2008, and the Guardian’s G2 section, 16 July 2008.
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On the Road





He travels light, Sean Connery. A small grip with ‘a clean shirt, spare trousers’ is enough for him. ‘If I’m in a place more than a day or two I just send it to the laundry.’1 And though he has properties in New York, in California, in the Bahamas and sundry other places around the world, he has never found ‘anywhere that I want to live permanently’.2 Instead, he says, ‘Home is where you’re working.’3 And Connery has worked pretty much everywhere. That last remark was made in 1994, not long after the wrap on his fifty-sixth movie, a picture whose shoot had taken him deep into the wilds of South Africa. Much of the previous year had been spent filming in Los Angeles, while in 1992 Connery had endured a long, less than comfortable shoot in the jungles of Mexico. Seen through rose-tinted spectacles, the life of the big-shot movie star can seem as wondrous and wandering as that of the globe-trotting secret agent. Seen au naturel, it can look an awful lot like the lifestyle of what used to be called the itinerant class – the class to which generations of Connery’s antecedents had belonged.


Hence what Holden Caulfield called ‘all that David Copperfield kind of crap’4 is sketchy about Connery’s background. When Thomas (later Sean) Connery was born, in Edinburgh in 1930, his father’s forebears had been in Scotland for less than fifty years. Before fetching up in Glasgow, the Connerys – Irish Catholics – had plied their travelling tinker’s trade over the water in County Wexford.5


Given that nomadic background, the Connerys are unlikely to have abandoned the mother country because of the rent-raising strictures of Gladstone’s second Irish Land Act of 1881. What we do know is that James Connery, who had been born in 1839, was 42 years old (well into middle age back then) when he made the move. And that Elizabeth McPhillips, the woman we must assume was James’s wife, was some fifteen years his junior. They had met back in 1865, when Elizabeth was just eleven. A year later, she gave birth to their first child, another James; in 1870 to their second, another Elizabeth; and in 1879, shortly before their departure for the city on the Clyde, to their last-born – Sean Connery’s grandfather, Thomas.*




* They ordered things differently back then, of course, though quite how differently might be thought moot. In 1989, aged 59, Sean Connery was voted the world’s sexiest man. In 1999, aged 69, he was voted the sexiest man of the century. And only five years ago, in 2005, the then 75-year-old Connery was voted Britain’s sexiest pensioner. Read about on paper, a movie like Entrapment (1999) is risible. What is this caper, after all, but the sadly not-at-all Buñuelian tale of an old, old man and a beautiful young girl? Seen on the screen, though, we believe in this not-quite romance because we have been told over and over again – and not just by surveys, but by wives and girlfriends – that pretty much every woman in the world, the bulk of whom must by definition be many years younger than Sean Connery, would happily bed the octogenarian star.





Like his father before him, Thomas Connery preferred his girls young. As the nineteenth century gave way to the twentieth, the then 22-year-old Thomas set up home in Garscube with 13-year-old Jeanie McNab. (Barely an expression on a map, Garscube was an area of Glasgow so poor they gave allotments to the unemployed there.) A year later, in 1902, she bore Thomas an illegitimate son whom they called Joseph. (The couple were not actually married until 1938, a couple of years before Jeanie died of cancer, aged 52.) In 1905, with the family now resident in the no less impoverished – though rather more central – area of Cowcaddens, a second son, James, was born.


Poverty is never pleasant but we should be wary of overplaying how tough the Connery family found Glasgow life a century ago. Rough and ready as the districts they lived in were (and Sean Connery has said Thomas was never happier than when he was bare-knuckle fighting6), the city itself – the soi-disant ‘second city of empire’ – was doing very well indeed, thank you. Given its then rock-solid economic bases of engineering and shipbuilding, there were far worse places for a skilled man to ply his trade. Or even an unskilled one. For though Thomas Connery had no skills to speak of, much less to write home about – like so many men of his class he was illiterate – the horse and cart he had made his living from since his early teens served him well in the city’s thriving scrap-metal trade. Nonetheless, come the outbreak of the First World War, Thomas decided to try his luck in the country’s capital city, Edinburgh.


If there was any logic behind this move then, the better part of a century on, it is hard to discern what it might have been. During the war, Glasgow and the Clyde Basin would, predictably enough, grow into Britain’s most vital centre of munitions manufacture. The pickings for a scrap-metal trader can have only become richer there. To be sure, Edinburgh did well enough too. But as Edwin Muir was to note on his Scottish Journey (a trip made when Sean Connery was just three or four years old), ‘the most historical part of Edinburgh … is a slum intersected by ancient houses that have been segregated and turned into museums and training colleges’.7 More, the city that calls itself the Athens of the North was and is an altogether more cerebral town than Glasgow. The print trade was one of its backbones – and print calls for literacy. All things considered, life for the Connerys can hardly have been any easier in their new city than it had been in their old. Except, one surmises, that to Thomas the fact of Edinburgh’s ‘newness’ was all that mattered. The nomadic bug still bit this family deep.


It went on doing so. Until well into his twenties Sean Connery had no idea of where he was going, or of what he was doing. And looking at his career as he went into his thirties – that ungainly slalom between the series of films that made his name and the more ambitious dramas he hoped would sustain it – it can be difficult to abstract a line of attack. Sure, Bond was artless, mindless, so by all means work with the likes of Alfred Hitchcock or Harry Andrews while out of the 007 armour. But with Basil Dearden? With Edward Dmytryk? With Richard Harris? By the mid-sixties, Connery was one of the highest-paid actors in the world, but he was never happy being tied down to what most people – and certainly most actors – would have considered a nice big earner. He was forever beefing about this, bemoaning that. The family models he had to work from, the examples of peddlers and chancers and men who couldn’t settle, had stayed with him.




*





Certainly, Sean Connery’s early life was as unsettled, as unfocussed, as unpredictable as any young man’s has ever been. He was born Thomas Sean Connery in Edinburgh’s Royal Maternity Hospital on 25 August 1930, a big, big baby boy, weighing in at around ten and a half pounds. His size was much commented on, because the Connery men had never been particularly hefty. Joe Connery, the boy’s father, was built as solidly as any skill-free workman, but he topped out at a less than imposing five feet eight inches. But they say that you get your height from your mother, and while the photographic evidence doesn’t quite endorse Diane Cilento’s claim that Joe’s wife Euphemia (née Maclean) stood ‘a good head taller’ than he did,8 nonetheless she was tall for a woman and stood head-to-head with her husband.


They had married at Tynecastle Parish Church, a couple of years before Thomas’s birth, on 28 December 1928, when Joe was 26 and Effie (as Euphemia was always known) was 20, and there are reasons other than her long legs to believe the labourer had done well for himself. Euphemia was a favourite name for Protestant girls of the time, which means that Joe was moving away from those lowly Catholic roots so frowned upon by many Scots. ‘I understand,’ John Buchan rued in a speech to the House of Commons not long after Thomas Connery had come into the world, ‘that every fifth child born now in Scotland is an Irish Roman Catholic.’9 Despite his Hibernian middle name, the new Connery wasn’t going to be one of them.


Unlike Joe’s parents, Effie’s parents were married. By the time Thomas was old enough to know them they had left Edinburgh and retired to Lassodie, a coalmining village north of Dunfermline, 30 or 40 miles as the crow flies across the Firth of Forth. Retirement presupposes an earlier period of work, and Neil Maclean had indeed held down a job all his life. He had started out as a plasterer, a skilled trade from which he worked his way up the ladder to the titled job of Public Works Foreman. Something of an achiever then, especially when his achievements are set next to those of the Connery tinkers. Little wonder, perhaps, that the two families were uneasy around one another. His parents’ wedding celebrations, Connery has told us, were cut short because a fight was about to break out between his two grandfathers.10


At the time Thomas Connery was born, Joe was being paid £2 a week as a labourer in the North British Rubber Company’s mill. This last was not far from the Fountainbridge area of Edinburgh, in one of whose run-down, two-room tenement apartments the Connerys had set up home. Ablutions were carried out in cold water at the kitchen sink, more private matters in the shared toilet on the tenement’s back stairwell. Tam, as baby Thomas was immediately nicknamed, slept in a drawer at the foot of the family wardrobe. ‘My background,’ he would tell a reporter years later, ‘was harsh.’11 So, of course, was that of everyone with whom he came into contact. As he remembered, ‘the attitude at home was the prevalent one in Scotland – you make your own bed and so you have to lie in it’.12


It sounds like a hard and harsh life, but the childhood photographs we have of Connery rather belie the image. They show a very well-cared for young fellow. There is a picture of him at five or six at Edinburgh’s Tollcross Primary School in which he is turned out with so much more pride – that jacket! that tie! that parting in his hair! – than the other boys around him. And in Being a Scot, his idiosyncratic history of his home country, Connery prints another picture of his young self, surrounded by what he calls ‘the Stewart Terrace school gang’. Here he is, a beaming-faced and hearty-looking angel, surrounded by what one can only call the junior great unwashed. As Connery himself asks of the picture, ‘Why am I the only one who is wearing a tie?’13 Who can say? But it is perhaps worthy of note that, his most famous movie role aside, the mature Connery has almost never been seen in his best bib and tucker.


Indeed, stories told by his brother Neil (born eight years after Thomas) give us an altogether rougher Connery than the one those photographs prepare us for – a Connery who is in and out of hospital after twists and tumbles and head-first dives into trees from sledges. Neil has described an incident in which Tommy cut his hand very nastily – by gripping the glass knob on the door to his parents’ bedroom so tightly that it shattered. ‘Sean was the quiet one of the family,’ Neil remembered, ‘and inclined to be an over-sensitive child.’14 ‘When I met him,’ his second wife Micheline Roquebrune said of the Connery she has known since his early forties, ‘I very quickly wanted to protect him. He needs protection.’15


Connery’s first wife, Diane Cilento, has latterly claimed her erstwhile husband was a troubled and troublesome youngster. Many children go shoplifting, for instance, but she says that when Connery did, he did so with his mother in tow. Did so, moreover, using baby Neil’s pram as the cover for his ill-gotten comics and chocolates. One day, writes Cilento, Mrs Connery ‘flipped back the blanket and uncovered the stolen goodies. After a public belting in the street, Effie dragged him back to the shop by his ear, forcing him to apologise to the shopkeeper and replace the lot.’16


And yet, one suspects Tam was his mother’s rather than his father’s son. Likely the fact that he was the first Connery we have come across who learned to read was down to Effie’s influence. More, he liked the printed word – if only in the form of those comic books. Still, enough of it rubbed off on him for a teacher at Bruntsfield Primary School to praise one of his early compositions.* Yet for all his love of words (and his speed at mental arithmetic, a trait perhaps inherited from his bookie’s runner grandfather), when the time came for him to move on to secondary school he opted for a place not at Boroughmuir – a fee-paying school, though one open to scholarship boys, where they taught subjects like economics and modern languages – but at the rather more practically minded Darroch.




* Bruntsfield was a rather more selective institution than Tollcross; Connery was offered and took up a place there in 1937.





His reasoning was simple enough. Though he had passed the requisite exams, attending Boroughmuir would have meant having to play the dreaded English public-school game of rugby. At Darroch he was able to play the soccer he loved and loves. Fair enough. The trouble was, he seems to have done little else while there. ‘I never remembered anybody making school sufficiently stimulating or interesting to make me want to stay,’ he would say, close on half a century after leaving Darroch. 17Well, maybe. One of his teachers, a Mrs Hardy, saw things rather differently though. ‘He wasn’t a fool,’ she remembered. ‘He wasn’t stupid, but just bare average.’18 Like other bare average kids of the day, he did just two years at secondary school, leaving in July 1944, a month before his fourteenth birthday.


Not that anyone could have called him lazy. During those years at Darroch Connery was spending much of his waking life hard at work. Accounts vary as to the age he was when he began earning the money to pay his own way, but we know for sure that within days of leaving school he was working for St Cuthbert’s Dairy for a guinea a week as a barrow boy.19 And we know that within a few weeks of that start-date, he was promoted to transport duties – driving a horse and cart around the city delivering milk.


Though the bulk of the money he earned was handed over to Effie to help out with the rent, Connery was spending less and less time at home. Even when not working, he was out of the house, taking care of his new best friend, Tich – the horse that pulled his milk-cart. ‘He was horse daft,’ Effie would tell a reporter years later. ‘Always taking my dusters to rub down the milk horse.’20 You can call such behaviour soft-headed, even sentimental, though it may be that what Connery found in tending to his charge was a way of being alone – and artists need to find ways of being alone.


Then again, maybe he just wanted out of an increasingly fraught home life. According to Neil, there were tensions between his father and his elder brother, tensions he believes explicable by the latter’s ‘developing too fast. He was too big for his age, too bold, the bread-earner too early.’21 The real problem, one suspects, was that around the time Thomas commenced earning a wage, his father stopped doing so. One weekend he returned home from Glasgow, where he had been labouring at the Rolls-Royce factory, having broken his nose and wrist in what he called an accident. For the next eighteen months the money Thomas earned, together with what Effie managed to bring in from her work as a part-time charlady, were the mainstays of the family income.


Years later, with his son become an international movie star, Joe Connery would characterise himself as ‘not the sort that would like to sit around and let a son take care of him’.22 And yet Diane Cilento has claimed that when she first met Joe for a drink, some time in the late fifties, she saw Connery surreptitiously slip his father some money under the table. Later, when the man who was then her boyfriend had gone to the bar, Joe turned to Cilento and asked her, ‘How long have you known Tommy?’ Told they had met a year or so before, Joe feigned amazement at the relationship’s longevity: ‘But ye’ve never met … his wee brother, Neil. Well, he’s no’ so wee the noo. He’s in the army. He’s the one, ye know … once you’ve met Neil, you’ll never look at Tommy again … and he’s nine [sic] years younger than Tommy, too. Have you noticed he’s going thin on top?’23 You don’t have to be a strict Freudian to conceive that there might have been something Oedipal going on here.*




* To be fair to Joe, he might once have had a point. The young Neil Connery was altogether smoother and finer featured than his elder brother. But we are talking of the late fifties, when the times they were a-changing – and Sean’s rough edges were destined to become cutting edges in the next decade





Consider the curious incident of Thomas’s sixteenth birthday spending spree. Effie, it turned out, had not had to use all the money he had been handing over to her from his weekly wages. She had managed to salt away some of it in a Post Office savings account. Come the day he turned 16, young Connery was surprised to learn that he had somewhere north of £75 put by. Horse-lover or not, he told the family that he had decided to treat himself to a motorbike.


Now remember, this was 1946 – only a year since the end of the war. British youth culture was hardly a force to be reckoned with. Over in America they were inventing the teenager, but in Britain – and perhaps even more so in Scotland – there was no such thing. There were children and there were adults, and the children did what the adults told them to do. And the adult of the Connery household told the eldest child that, no, he would not be buying a motorbike. By then, of course, the boy everyone called Big Tam towered over his father. But Marlon Brando and Nicholas Ray were not yet making movies and he had no example of youthful insurrection to follow.† And so, while he did indeed storm out of the family home to kick and cool his heels on the streets, he did not buy himself that motorbike.




† As a youngster Connery was a regular picturegoer. He was a big fan of westerns, and has said that he ‘always used to think about being an Indian’. Ben Fong-Torres, ‘Connery, Sean Connery’, American Film, May 1989.





He bought himself a piano. It cost him £56 10s24 – and neither he nor any other member of the Connery household could play a note on it. So remember, too, that that household lived in extremely cramped quarters. And that even the smallest piano is a bulky item, swallowing wall and floor space. As any pianist knows, territorial rights are forever being fought over their instrument. Hardly surprising, then, that Joe wanted rid of it. Or that Big Tam refused – insistent that he was going to take lessons, the first sign of the sensitive, creative side of his personality that would come to the fore over the next few years. Except that he never did learn to play the piano. Still, the instrument stayed put, and a small battle was won. This was a boy who more than paid his own way around the home. He had a right to keep his things in it.


So Joe Connery was doubtless mighty relieved the day the boy came home and announced that he had signed up with the Royal Navy. Certainly he wished him well on his adventure. Effie was rather less happy, says Neil Connery – and not just because she counted on the money Tam brought home every week. The boy was only just seventeen, after all, and his decision to leave home and family had come out of the blue.


Alas, though he signed up for twelve years’ service – seven as a sailor, five in the Naval Reserve – Connery no more enjoyed his time as a cadet than he did his years at school. Homesickness was partly to blame. Connery might have thought he wanted out of Fountainbridge, but Portsmouth, where he fetched up after basic training at Bultaw Camp near Lochinver, was the first place he had been to outside Scotland, and he found little there to make him happy. Among the things he did on his first days off was to have two tattoos emblazoned on his right arm. One read ‘Scotland Forever’, the other ‘Mum and Dad’.*




* Badly covered in panstick, the tattoos are visible in more than one Bond movie.





If that last tattoo sounds like sentimentality, consider that young Connery was now having to deal with men who thought rather less of him than his father ever had. Bluntly, the Royal Navy was a disciplined outfit and Connery turned out to be no good at taking orders. ‘I was a boy seaman,’ he would recall years later, ‘and there was an ordinary seaman above me, and if you reached his status there was a naval seaman and beyond that a leading seaman, and then a petty officer and a chief petty officer – and I was aware that I had not done enough to make this kind of progress.’25


Asked about his time in the navy by another reporter, he warmed to his theme: ‘I don’t like anyone telling me what to do.’ But haven’t you got to be able to take orders before you can give them? ‘Put it another way. I don’t so much mind being told what to do provided I have respect for the person who is telling me, but there is nothing more boring, more annoying, more maddening than being told to do something by someone who is incompetent.’26Perhaps not, though it is hard to believe that every superior Connery came up against during his time in the Royal Navy was incompetent. What really goaded him, one suspects, was the perhaps unforeseen class structure of His Majesty’s Armed Forces (as they then were). Whether they could take orders or not, largely uneducated commoners without received-pronunciation accents were never going to get anywhere in the Senior Service. ‘It’s ridiculous to say there are no class barriers in this country,’ Connery would fume in the mid-sixties. ‘I try to ignore class now. But there were times when people wouldn’t let me.’27


By then, of course, Connery’s instinct for insurrection was being put to good use in the creation of his most famous role. ‘Discipline, 007, discipline,’ Connery’s James Bond chastises himself as he realises he really mustn’t waste time chasing another pretty girl in Goldfinger (1964). Unlike Ian Fleming’s original, Connery’s Bond had no time at all for what he saw as the uptight stuffiness of his superiors. Such roguish rebellion was as much a product of the changing times as it was a reflection of Connery’s own urges. Still, it goes some way to explaining Connery’s being cast in a role nobody believed he was seriously up for. Indeed, as we shall see, it seems to have been Connery’s chippiness that played a big part in getting him cast in the first place.


Given all that bellyaching, Thomas Connery didn’t last long in the Navy. By July 1949, a mere seventeen months after quitting the firm, he was back at St Cuthbert’s Dairy – having been invalided out of the forces with a real bellyache in the form of a duodenal ulcer. These days such a troubled adolescent would likely have been given a course of antibiotics and told to get on with it. But it is only recently that the majority of stomach ulcers have been proven to be bacterial in origin. Sixty years ago they were thought to be the product of stress – just the kind of thing a boy seaman needs to be able to handle. If he couldn’t, it was time to ship out.


Back home in Edinburgh, opinions differed among Connery’s friends as to the state of his health. There were those who thought their rebellious pal had pulled the wool over the eyes of the military medicos. And there were those who said yes, but don’t ulcers run in the male side of his family? And doesn’t he look like he’s in pain? And perhaps he did, though this needn’t have been entirely down to his stomach problems. The fact was that, the headstrong purchase of that piano aside, joining the Navy had been the only real decision Tam Connery had made for himself. And it had not worked out. A couple of years after signing on, he was back on his parents’ couch with nothing to show for his adventure but a 6s 8d (33p) a week pension. And what 18-year-old wants to be known as an invalid?


Could that have been why he suddenly took up weightlifting? Difficult for us, who have known Sean Connery for almost half a century as one of the movies’ biggest men, to conceive that he might at one time have been less than strapping. But there are pictures from his Navy days in which he is, for all his height, less than imposing. Back at home, meanwhile, there was talk of Tam’s skinniness, of the fact that he weighed too little for his 6ft 2in frame. And so, for a 15s (75p) membership fee and 1s 6d a week subscription, he joined the Dunedin Amateur Weight-Lifting Club and began pumping iron there every Monday, Wednesday and Friday. He wanted, he would later say, to look good for the girls.


On the evidence of the paintings and sketches made of Connery at an Edinburgh College of Art life-class a few years later, he got his wish. Though contact between painters and models was strictly forbidden, Connery could have seen and heard that the girl students were much taken with what one of them would later call his ‘jet black hair and dark eyebrows’ and his ‘spectacular’ body.28 Though he was paid a mere 15s an hour for his modelling efforts, it was in those classes that he began to see that his physique might turn out to be his fortune.


Hence, perhaps, his quitting the dairy again, a mere six months after his return. It was 7 January 1950 – the first Saturday of the year – when he handed in his notice for the second time there. Was it, one wonders, some kind of New Year’s resolution in this, his twentieth year? If so, it was a peculiarly unfocussed one. For the next three years Connery drifted through a succession of menial manual-labouring jobs – three weeks delivering coal here, a few more weeks working on the roads there, a couple of months at a steelyard in between times. Of resolve about any of these labours there is no sign.


And then, in early 1951, the military, through the offices of the British Legion, came to his aid. Thanks to his being a disabled ex-servicemen, Connery was eligible for them to pay his fees for a scholarship that would enable him to learn a trade. He chose, of all things, French polishing – a rewarding but repetitive task highly unsuited, one would have thought, to a man who had signally failed to settle to anything. And indeed, though he mastered the basic skills on a crash course, and was soon back home polishing coffins for Vinestock’s in the east of Edinburgh, he was with them no later than the spring of 1952. As he would recall a decade or so later, ‘I usually left a job as soon as I got fed up or had £50 in the bank.’29


Still, that time at Vinestock’s was not entirely wasted. In Peter Moran, a fellow apprentice, Connery had met someone who would turn out to have a huge impact on his future life. For Moran had family in London – and he had been invited down to take a look at the Festival of Britain Exhibition on the South Bank. Would Connery care to come, too? So it was that one summer weekend in 1951, a fast-coming-of-age Connery had his eyes opened to another world. Not just to the Festival’s much-feted Dome of Discovery and the Skylon, but to the Dick Whittington promise of London itself. Hitherto, Connery had flailed and fluttered his way through life. But as with so many young people before and since, something awakened in him during that visit to the capital – the realisation that one’s background need not be one’s backdrop. Asked, more than thirty years later, about his peripatetic adolescence and youth, Connery would say, ‘I was obviously looking for something and not finding it.’30 Or, as he confided to his notebook that year:






The lyres of time sang softly,


I cared not how I fared,


For free with the strength of ignorance,


How could I have been impaired?


My armour bright and virile


Entombed a passionate heart,


That nurtured dreams of fire,


But to where, to where to start.31 








To where indeed?




*





First of all, back to ‘Edinburgh, where the past is so strong, and the memory of Scottish history is perpetually reminding you, if you are a Scotsman, that this was once a capital, the half-meaninglessness of Scottish life overwhelms you more strongly than anywhere else’.32Certainly, all the way through Connery’s youth Scottish nationalism had been on the rise. In 1934, when Connery was just four years old, the Scottish National Party was born, but it would be another eleven years before the SNP won a parliamentary seat in the Motherwell by-election – and that seat was lost three months later in the Labour landslide of July 1945. The movement gained little traction on the body politic largely because it was, and is, a victim without a villain. Nobody could convincingly have called the Scotland of the twentieth century the victim of oppression. Depression is another thing, though. As with so many areas of England outside the south-east hub today, the Scotland of the thirties and forties was half-alive to the notion that it had ceased to have any useful economic function. To live in Edinburgh as any kind of sentient being was to have what would today be called issues.


For the moment, though, Connery’s issues took him no further than Edinburgh’s outdoor swimming baths – the Portobello – there to be a lifeguard. It wasn’t quite as aimless a move as it sounds. All day long, naked save for a pair of shorts, he got to strut his pumped and preened body around the poolside – the man in charge, the man ready for action. It is not too fanciful, I think, to see these days and weeks at the pool as Connery’s first public performances. Certainly, there are pictures of him at the Portobello surrounded by giggling young women, a wide, dumb grin on his face – pictures of a man beginning to waken to the fact of his physical beauty.


Outdoor poolwork is strictly seasonal, of course, and by the end of the year Connery was back inside – cleaning the printing presses of the Edinburgh Evening News. Uninspiring and unpleasant work, as I can testify, but one night Connery spied an ad in the paper telling readers that Dame Anna Neagle was on the lookout for six-foot-plus male extras for her pre-London tour of the historical musical The Glorious Days (filmed as Lilacs in the Spring in 1954).* No sooner had he finished his shift than Connery was straight down to the stage door of the Empire Theatre to request an audition. Dame Anna’s people snapped him up and for a five-week Christmas run he took his first steps on the stage, dressed as a guards officer.




* See imdb.com for rumours that Connery is to be seen in silhouette during one of the movie’s dance sequences. I for one am not going to check.





There is no evidence, it should be said, that the job meant much more to him than an extra bit of cash for the party season. Nor is there any reason to doubt the logic of his claim that ‘I only got the job because they wanted someone tall’.33But what we can say is that for his thespian debut Connery was cast not in order to be someone else but to be himself. Which is a way of saying that this was less like an audition for the theatre, where shape-changing character construction is the order of the day, than for the movies, where commanding the camera with the presence of the self is called for.


Certainly, that brief stint on stage boosted his confidence a little more. By March the next year, a photograph of one Tom Connery, ‘Well-muscled member of the Dunedin Weightlifting Club, Edinburgh’, was to be seen inside the front cover of Health and Strength magazine.34 And when, a few weeks later, Archie Brennan (a onetime Mr Scotland who had taken it upon himself to be Connery’s personal trainer) suggested the two of them enter the London heats of the 1953 Mr Universe contest, Connery had no doubt that it was a good idea. For one thing, he would be out on stage and under the lights again. For another, this stage and these lights would be down in London. For all he knew, he might even win a passage through to the next round …


In the event, he took bronze in the tall men’s class. Years later he would admit to having been shocked at the size of the opposition. As well he might have been. There is a photo of Connery posing on the stage of London’s now demolished Scala Theatre as the results for the Mr Universe heats are read out. At 6ft 2in he stands half a head higher than even his tallest opponent, but there is no denying that he is carrying nothing like the weight these other guys are. But so what? asks the cultural historian. These days, when every bit-part actor over the age of thirteen has his packs and pecs and his 24/7 personal trainer, we are apt to forget that half a century ago a muscle-bound actor was a rarity. Nor does that age’s definition of muscularity chime with our own. Burt Lancaster once said that the problem with weightlifting was that it made your muscles tight. Gymnastics and acrobatics, on the other hand, lengthened them. Whatever training regime he had been putting himself through, the net effect of Connery’s had been to lengthen rather than tighten his physique. Bluntly, he looked more like Burt Lancaster than the ‘brown condom full of walnuts’ Clive James famously described Arnold Schwarzenegger as resembling.35 And had Connery looked like that he would probably not have been in line for what was coming up.


For Stan Howlett and Vic Harmon, two fellow competitors in the Mr Universe contest, told Connery that while he might not have taken first prize at the Scala there was still work to be had for men of his stature. For the past few months they had been making a living in the back row of the musical South Pacific. Now the show, twenty months or so into its two-year run at the Drury Lane Theatre, was going on tour – sans Harmon, who was emigrating to Canada – and auditions were to be held for his part in the chorus. Connery jumped at the chance. He couldn’t sing and his dance moves were limited to ballroom shimmying, but after those walk-ons at the Edinburgh Empire he had fallen for the stage. He loved the feeling of control it gave him, the way it allowed him to be admired from a distance.


Still, the auditions didn’t go well. A fellow Mr Universe entrant was rejected out of hand, and Connery, nervous in mid-speech, fumbled and dropped the pages of his script. From somewhere out in the dark of the auditorium he caught the director, an Orson Welles lookalike by the name of Joshua Logan, giving him a mumbled bad-mouthing. He sighed and turned and started to walk. ‘Are those shoulders all your own?’ barked the voice from the dark. (The question was not a fatuous one since the fifties fashion for padded drape coats could make the reediest weakling look like Robert Mitchum.) Connery replied that yes, they were. In that case, said Logan, the part was his too.


There was method in Logan’s madness. His new chorus boy might not have chorused at all convincingly, and his dance steps might have been near to disastrous, but he had in spades what the producer knew this show – any show – needed. ‘Feel it in your crotch!’ Logan barked at his boys as they worked at the moves for ‘There Is Nothing Like A Dame’.36 And his new boy, though no Fred Astaire, moved pretty well for a big guy. Whether or not this young man was feeling it in his crotch, Logan was in no doubt that his audience would.


For the next two years, Connery mimed and sotto voced his way through Rodgers and Hammerstein’s numbers nigh on a thousand times. To begin with, he was paid £12 a week, a sum Joe Connery – though disdainful of what he saw as his son’s ne’er-do-well strolling-player ways – found highly impressive. As well he might have done. Few skilled tradesmen grossed £600 a year in the early fifties, and Sean Connery – for that was the name of the actor listed as playing Sergeant Waters in the South Pacific programme – was being paid the sum for a few hours’ work a night.


Quite what he considered himself to be doing moving into the theatrical game, though, is unclear. True, Connery had always had that sensitive, romantic side – the piano, the poetry, the wanderlust. And it is also true that there are many photographs of him as a young man in which he clowns for the camera. (Such clowning will recur throughout his career. There is a charming picture of Connery being photographed by Tippi Hedren on the set of Marnie, in which he jokingly removes his jacket from his shoulder, like a striptease artist. And many of the documentaries on the latest Bond DVD releases boast footage of Connery gurning and comically flexing his muscles for Ken Adam’s home movies of the productions.) Still, while Connery stuck with Rodgers and Hammerstein’s show for as long as he had ever stuck at anything, in the years to come he would tell more than one reporter that he conceived of his stage debut as little more than ‘a giggle’.37 ‘The whole idea of travelling around the country … was what appealed to me.’38 ‘It was an adventure,’ he told another journalist, ‘but there was no future in it for me.’39 On the other hand, he found out during South Pacific’s long, long tour that he liked what he was doing, would like to do more of it, would like to improve at it.


None of which might have come to pass had Connery not palled up with Robert Henderson, the touring version of South Pacific’s Captain Brackett, and an actor with more than a passing interest in the history of his craft and the theatrical tradition sustaining it. As 1953 became 1954, Connery and Henderson shared lodgings during the show’s nine-week stint at the Manchester Opera House and the older man (born in Michigan in 1904, Henderson was a couple of years senior to Joe Connery) took the younger man under his wing.


The tutelage began when the two men were walking home one night and Henderson casually mentioned Ibsen. Who’s Ibsen? asked Connery. Henderson explained saying that, if he were interested, Connery should read Hedda Gabler or The Wild Duck or even When We Dead Awaken. ‘I was so impressed by actors and how articulate they were,’ Connery later recalled. ‘How much they seemed to know about everything. I was impressed by most people I met. I was impressed by people that could express themselves. I had no confidence in terms of intellect at all because I’d had absolutely no exposure to it.’40 And so, the next morning he took himself off to the local library and started working his way through Henderson’s reading list. When he had finished, he returned to his mentor for more suggestions.


Henderson was taken aback: ‘Most young men are keen to be stars,’ he would say years later, ‘but they’re also dead lazy.’41 Not this young man Connery, though, who took Henderson’s next batch of suggestions – among them works by Proust, Stendhal and Tolstoy – and earnestly worked his way through them, too. Also in that second list of required reading was a work of non-fiction – Constantin Stanislavsky’s My Life in Art.


Now this is not one of Stanislavsky’s works of high theory. For the most part it is a memoir of a young man growing up in pre-revolutionary Russia. But the book, first published in 1924, was hot once more because of something that had been going on in the American theatre and cinema. Marlon Brando’s work – particularly his work as Stanley Kowalski in Elia Kazan’s movie version of Tennessee Williams’s A Streetcar Named Desire (1951) – had made Stanislavsky’s acting technique (the Method, Stanislavsky’s preferred term – or the System –) famous all around the world. More than that – it had made famous the notion that a leading actor need not look like the mid-twentieth century’s stereotype of a leading actor. And Connery, argued Henderson, could very well trade on this aesthetic about-turn. ‘You have to be a bit of a contradiction to what you are,’ Connery recalls being counselled.42 Henderson, for his part, says he told Connery that he looked ‘like a truck-driver [but] if you could acquire a background, in other words if you could look like a truck-driver and talk like Dostoevsky, I think you could make a success in films’.43


Prescience long after the fact, of course, though there is no denying that with his coffee-dark skin, his Neanderthal monobrow, his fondness for check shirts and faded jeans, the young Connery did have something of the truck-driver about him. But the hidebound British film industry of the mid-fifties could find no use for actors who looked like truckers – other than in pictures about truckers. Three years later, indeed, Connery was to appear in just such a film, Hell Drivers (1957). A couple of years earlier, meanwhile, a Sunday Times journalist called Ian Fleming had published his first novel – a glamorously fantastic tale of international intrigue entitled Casino Royale. Its hero was a public-school-educated former naval officer turned gourmand secret agent called James Bond. Anyone less like a truck-driver – or, indeed, like any character from Dostoevsky – it would be hard to imagine.




*





Certainly Fleming’s Bond would have had little time for football. But Connery, who had been a regular with the Fet-Lor amateurs back home in Edinburgh, still played a useful game and was a regular on the South Pacific team. One of the games he played in took place during the show’s stay in Manchester, where Connery had been spending much time on his programme of earnest self-improvement. ‘He had made his decision,’ Robert Henderson would later say, ‘to really go for it.’44 But had he? For the football match happened to be seen by a talent scout working for Manchester United’s then manager Matt Busby. ‘This guy,’ the scout told Busby, ‘is just what you’re looking for.’ Days later, Connery was offered a trial at Old Trafford.


So this was it! Rootless and routeless, Connery was being offered a way through the woods. To be sure, football was not then the big earner that it can be now. But the acting game offered no guarantee of riches, either. Connery might not have been at it long, but he had been at it long enough to have seen that a lot of people who had been at it for rather longer had little to show for their efforts. Robert Henderson, for instance. He might have known his way round the classics as well as he knew his way round the stage, but he was hardly living the high life. Henderson, though, was adamant. The chances were, he argued, that the chance Manchester United was offering Connery would come to not very much. And whatever it might come to, it wouldn’t last long. Connery would turn 24 in a few months’ time, and no matter how good a footballer he was, no matter how much Busby and his men could help him build on his talent, he wasn’t going to be playing the game much beyond another five years. Sure, he’d have fun, but by the time he was 30 he would be back where he was, scrabbling round for work, uncertain of what would happen next.


It should be said that Jerome White, the producer on South Pacific, saw things rather differently. Although by the time the show arrived in Liverpool in November 1953 he had promoted Connery to the role of Sergeant Kenneth Johnston, he held out no great hopes for the young man. ‘In this business,’ he told Henderson, a nobody like that beefcake chorus boy would ‘probably sink like a stone’.45 On the strength of Connery’s achievements thus far, you’d have needed 20–20 foresight to not side with White.


Connery, though, sided with Henderson and turned down Manchester United. The South Pacific tour continued, as did Connery’s studies. Late at night, when the show was over and he was back in his lodgings, he would carry on working his way through the classical repertoire. The mornings he gave over to self-administered elocution lessons, reading aloud into a tape recorder and listening to the results with a disgusted grimace. Movie critics might have joked about the mouthful of marbles through which Marlon Brando mumbled his every utterance, but Brando’s slips and slurs were crystalline in their clarity when set beside Connery’s twisted Scots vowels. One of his South Pacific co-stars, Millicent Martin (fifty years later a regular on the US sitcom Frasier), could understand so little of what Connery said that she believed he came, like Brando’s Kowalski, from Poland.46


Afternoons, meanwhile, Connery spent studying other touring shows. He watched anything and everything, from mainstream comedies and thrillers through Shakespeare, to the latest avant-garde productions. He was, Henderson would remember, a quick study, picking up a trick here, a tic there and all the while refining that Edinburgh brogue, though never let it be said that Connery is one of those stars who merely got lucky. The popular imagination likes the idea of the untutored star because it means that success is almost accidental and therefore potentially available to all. But regardless of his lack of formal training, Sean Connery worked very hard at his craft.


Come January 1955, just as Henderson was about to leave South Pacific, Connery was promoted to a speaking part – the one-line walk-on role of Lt Buzz Adams. Audiences seemed able to handle his accent, and he hung on to the part until the tour came to a finish in Plymouth that September.47 He had just turned 25 – a rather more advanced age than we would now consider it – when he returned to London, determined to be an actor and not at all sure how to go about it.
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Treading the Boards





Legend has it that what happened next was a lot of not very much. Back in London, Connery took a basement room at 12 Shalcomb Street, off the King’s Road – not then the glitzy spot it would subsequently become – and cycled in to the West End every day to hector the big showbiz agencies, hang around the stage doors, keep up on the theatre gossip, all the while signing on at the Westminster Labour Exchange for the £6 a week dole to which he was entitled. And maybe things did feel tough to Connery. Walls always look high when you’re on the wrong side of them. But the fact remains that once in the big city in that famously dry, famously mild autumn of 1955, Connery was almost instantly making a living as a jobbing actor.


To be sure, his first work in London wasn’t much to write home about. Nor did it come from out of the blue. Connery wasn’t spotted hanging around backstage at the Old Vic by some talent scout on the lookout for a new Hamlet or Macbeth. (Indeed, no less a figure than the artistic director of that very theatre, Michael Benthall, auditioned Connery, rejecting him out of hand because of what he said was his dodgy diction.) No, it was Robert Henderson who came good for his young protégé. In the second week of November, he told Connery, he would be mounting a production of Witness for the Prosecution at the Q Theatre in Kew. If Connery wanted it, there was a small part for him.


Small is right. In fact, calling it a part rather over-dignifies the large stretches of silence punctuated by the odd stentorian bark this run-through of the Agatha Christie warhorse required of Connery’s court usher. And yet, if he didn’t exactly steal the show, he emphatically stole much of its thunder.


It was the usher’s full black cape that did it. Connery had likely never been anywhere near such a cape before, let alone worn one. But no sooner was the cloak about him than garb and gait became as one. The cloak brought out the essential Connery, held up to the light his natural theatrical splendour, magnified the grandeur of his muscled form, pointed up the casual elegance of his leonine strut. So there were no two ways about it: the cape would have to go. ‘I had to take it off him,’ Henderson recalled. ‘The main actors were compelling, but Sean’s movement across the stage was so eye-catching … that it just wiped them out.’1


A few years later that eye-catching grace was to find an outlet in James Bond’s pantherine stroll. Before then, though, there was much that was graceless and mind-numbing to be waded through. For we are talking of what were still very much the early days of TV, when most people were still getting their narrative fix at their local theatre. Just like the television dramas that would eventually supplant them, most theatrical productions were forgettable rubbish, destined for short runs and shorter memories. But while they were all that was available, Connery had to take what he could get.


And so Henderson, having forgiven Connery his cape-swirling operatics, saw to it that Frederick Farley used him in the next-but-one Q production – Point of Departure (Anouilh’s wordy, putatively poeticised version of the Eurydice myth). Connery played Matthias while Ian Bannen – who would work with Connery many more times over the coming years – was cast as Orpheus. For a man with an impenetrable accent and no vocal training it must have been a baptism of fire. But a baptism it was, and given Connery’s enduring penchant for wordy poetics there are grounds for believing that he has never shaken off Anouilh’s influence.


Meanwhile, there was the landlord to pay and in the week running up to Christmas Connery was back at the Q Theatre for Henderson’s next production – Dolph Norman’s whimsically titled A Witch in Time (aka Great Great Grandmother was a Witch). Bell, Book and Candle one suspects it wasn’t. ‘The Scene,’ one learns from the theatre programme, ‘is laid in the Common Room in the old house of the Rogans, in some rural centre of an Irish county. The time is the present.’ Not for the last time, in other words, had Connery, who played one Robert Callendar, been cast as an Irishman.


And then, in the February of 1956, just three months after Connery’s arrival, the Q Theatre closed down for want of funds. Its final production, which kicked off on the 19th, was a show called Who Cares?. Connery wasn’t in it, but there is reason to think he may have been hanging around the theatre while Leo Lehman’s play was being put together. Later in the year, when Connery made his television debut, it was in a one-off drama written by that same Leo Lehman.


At Q, Connery would later say, he learned ‘enough to know I didn’t know enough’.2 Indeed, while there he stuck to his autodidactic guns, keeping up his visits to the local library in Chelsea, keeping up his self-imposed elocution lessons, keeping up his hopes.


And his luck held. Within a few weeks of the Q closure, he won a part in a Frith Banbury just-off-the-West-End production of The Good Sailor – a theatrical version of Melville’s Billy Budd – that opened on 4 April 1956 at the Lyric in Hammersmith. Connery, who was cast as O’Daniel, found himself playing opposite four men who would all become famous on TV and in the movies: Bernard Bresslaw, Dinsdale Landen, Leo McKern and Ronald Fraser. These last two were to figure prominently in Connery’s life over the next couple of years. Through McKern, Connery would meet his first agent – Richard Hatton. Through Fraser, a fellow Scot, he would meet ‘failed actress’ turned Fleet Street photographer Julie Hamilton, one of the most important women in his early life.3


This wasn’t Connery’s first serious affair. During South Pacific’s long run he had fallen in love with a dancer called Carol Sopel.* Yet though the romance endured for much of the tour, when it threatened to get too serious, Carol’s Orthodox Jewish parents stepped in and called a halt to things. Connery would encounter such negative (though in the circumstances perfectly explicable) sentiments again after he took up with Julie Hamilton.




* Unforgivably, her name is misspelled Sobel on page 33 of Connery’s Being a Scot.





Hamilton was the daughter of Jill Craigie, a socialist journalist, documentary-maker and authority on the history of feminism – which means that by the time Connery met her she was also the stepdaughter of Michael Foot, at the time the editor of Tribune, thirty years later the leader of the Labour Party. The Foots lived in Hampstead, then as now a north London village mocked for what a later resident, the novelist Kingsley Amis, would call its trendy leftiness.


In short, Hamilton was the most well-connected person Connery had so far met – though she is adamant he wasn’t on the make. ‘He was ambitious but unassuming,’ she remembers. ‘I’ve never been able to believe the stories I’ve heard about him after he became famous. I can’t believe he’s at all violent, for instance. During the time we were together he was incredibly gentle. Unlike a lot of actors, he was absolutely straightforward, and he is still the most honest man I’ve ever been involved with.’


Not that she fell for him immediately. They met in Hammersmith, during The Good Sailor’s short run. Hamilton’s best friend, Lizzie Howe, was engaged to Ronald Fraser and the four of them went for an after-show drink. She was, she remembers, unimpressed. ‘It’s not that I was this innocent posh girl frightened of this rough-and-ready guy. I’d never have described him as rough – he was bright – though he did have tattoos and gold teeth, just like a navvy. If anything, I thought he was rather large and rather boring. And I think I’d probably only recently broken off my engagement to Leslie Bricusse after finding out he’d been playing around.* So at first I didn’t think there was anything attractive about him.’




* Bricusse later wrote the lyrics to John Barry’s themes for Goldfinger and You Only Live Twice.





Connery himself, though, thought enough of Hamilton to make a long, drawn-out play for her. ‘Over the next few months he seemed to be at all the same parties, pubs and friends’ homes as me. He was always around, smiling that shy “I like you” smile. And I remember one day Peter O’Toole coming up to me in the Buxton Club [a West End club peopled largely by what would then be called theatrical types] and asking why on earth I wouldn’t go out with Sean because he was mad about me.’†




† At the time, O’Toole was making a name for himself at the Bristol Old Vic (an offshoot of the London theatre). Over the past few months he had appeared as Cornwall in a production of King Lear, as Bullock in The Recruiting Officer, as Peter Shirley in Major Barbara and as Lodovico in Othello.





Eventually, one Saturday in the late summer of that year, she decided to give him a chance. ‘It was the day Ronnie and Lizzie got married. I was a bridesmaid and I thought I looked stunning. When I got to Hampstead church, though, Sean was there in full Scottish dress – kilt, frilly shirt, the whole get-up. He looked devastating! After the wedding I took him back home. That meant walking down Fitzjohn’s Avenue to Abbey Road – and because we were dressed for a wedding heads were turning as we went by. After a while, though, I realised it wasn’t me they were really interested in – it was Sean. He was so magnificent.’


Not so magnificent, though, that Hamilton could bring herself to appreciate the décor of his ‘very damp basement’ in Chelsea – which she remembers as being plastered with photographs of its tenant modelling underwear. These last were probably the work of Bill Green, who, under the pseudonym Vince, ran a studio in Manchester Street, north of Oxford Street. It is true that Green lit his work beautifully, the glistening bodies of his subjects seeming almost to be carved out of light against the oil-slick black of his backgrounds. But he could be clumsy with his choice of lens and camera position. Though Connery does indeed appear godlike in some of these pictures, he can look Neanderthal too. There is a shot reproduced in Being a Scot that gives him a neck as wide as a bucket. And, sculpted as his musculature may be, no thought has been given to Connery’s eyebrow (the singular is apt) – a great roll of chaotically wiry hair that lours above his face like some thunderous cloud. No wonder he was cast as a baddie in his first credited movie.




*





Shot in the summer of 1956, the gangland drama No Road Back (1957) was just one of the many monochrome cheapies the British film industry of the day churned out as second-string accompaniments to the bigger Hollywood pictures. Certainly, Connery’s appearance aside, Montgomery Tully’s movie is of no interest to the film historian – though it should be said that, for a debut, that appearance is more than assured. Connery may, in the words of one of the policemen on his character’s tail, be ‘a tall dark Scotsman with a bit of a stammer’, but in a cast of overacting nobodies he stands out as the man capable of doing nothing but just being in front of the camera.


He plays Spike, the brainless heavy used as muscle by the not significantly brighter Railton (Skip Homeier) and as a faithful lean-on by Rudge (Alfie Bass). Perhaps because his elocution lessons were deemed not to have done enough to his accent, or perhaps because the screenwriter (Tully again) thought such a minor character needed nothing by way of lines, Connery has about as much to say in the picture as Harold Sakata would have a few years later when he played Oddjob in Goldfinger. Nonetheless, what he does have to say he says well, Spike’s stammer serving to slow down Connery’s line readings sufficiently to make them comprehensible to an audience not yet accustomed to the mumbles and grumbles of the Method school. 


True, Connery overacts in silent moments – gurning here, trying too hard to look like he’s thinking or confused there. But already, padding about on rooftops or stepping silently through corridors on the way to a safe-break, he is moving supremely well. Alas, while pretty much everyone else in the cast gets involved in a scrap, Connery never gets to throw a single punch. A pity, because all the punches that do get thrown are of the limp-wristed variety every actor indulged in before Connery got to show everyone how fights really looked in Dr No.


Connery has one big scene in which he has to struggle through his speech impediment to tell the ringleader of the gang (Margaret Rawlings) that Rudge has been killed. What marks the moment out is Connery’s expressive use of his hands – rubbing them nervously together, lacing and unlacing his fingers, locking his thumbs against one another – to suggest the torments of a man under pressure. The performance isn’t perfect, but there is enough evidence in it to suggest that here was a man who was giving some thought to what he was doing while on screen.


Certainly, the powers that be seemed to believe he had acquitted himself well enough. Hard on the heels of the release of No Road Back, in February 1957, he scored both that aforementioned agent, Richard Hatton, and two more big-screen bit-parts. First up was Hell Drivers (1957), Cy Endfield’s lame-brained hommage to Elia Kazan’s Oscar-winner of a couple of years earlier On the Waterfront (1954), in which Connery was cast as the trucker Robert Henderson had said he resembled.


In the Marlon Brando part, meanwhile, is Stanley Baker’s Tom Yately, an ex-con trying to make good. Marshalled against him is the unacceptable face of capitalism in the form of a tight-fisted boss Cartley (William Hartnell) and a brutishly competitive co-trucker known only as Red (Patrick McGoohan). The story requires Yately to take sundry slights from Red and Cartley before coming punchily good toward the movie’s denouement. What it requires of Connery is rather less than that. Along with Sid James and Gordon Jackson, he has to sit at the back of the frame and grin oafishly as McGoohan metes out yet another tongue-lashing to Baker.


Hell Drivers, which began shooting in December 1956, is no better than you’d expect (certainly nowhere near good enough to merit the two-disc special edition DVD treatment it was granted for its fiftieth anniversary), its only interest today deriving from the Connery character’s unthinking endorsement of every new bit of hooliganism from McGoohan. A better director than Endfield, a better actor than Connery then was, would have realised how much more bite McGoohan’s ritual humiliations of Baker might have had had someone been looking on askance in the background. Since neither the weedy James nor the reedy Jackson could have been expected to test such treacherous waters, the honours would logically have fallen to the Connery character. As it is, Connery looks beefily but brainlessly on, his face forever cracked by a CinemaScope smile – the better to show off a mouthful of suspiciously white teeth.


What really marks Hell Drivers out in the early Connery canon, though, is that he remains fully dressed throughout its proceedings. Few are the movies in these early years in which Connery doesn’t bare his chest or at least his arms. Showing off his biceps was certainly the order of the day in Time Lock (1957), a £100, four- day shoot Connery walked into within days of the Hell Drivers wrap. In this clunker, our truck-driver lookalike is cast not at all against type as a welder whose job it is to cut open a bank vault in which is trapped the manager’s young son. The picture was the brainchild of Gerald Thomas and Peter Rogers, and is as ripe with tensions, ironies and subtleties as any of the Carry On series they were months away from unleashing on the world.


What to say about Time Lock other than that life is too short? Certainly, the only possible reason for watching the movie – which still airs regularly on TV – is to watch Connery in action. Not that he has much to do. His most dramatic moment comes when he gets to light the oxyacetylene torch he will try to cut open the vault with and you wonder whether his eyebrow (again, that singular is apt) might go up in flames.


Indeed, what really marks the film out is the extremely un-promising nature of Connery’s performance. He has only a handful of lines, some of them spoken in the Scots burr audiences would come to love, others barked out in what might be Kajkavian. Little wonder he blows his big set-piece argument with the boss, where he is unable to dramatise the (admittedly tedious) technical problems a welder’s life is heir to.


Most remarkable, though, is his lack of grace. Connery spends his fifteen minutes or so of screen-time shambling and stumbling, a far cry from the matinee-idol elegance he would soon be famous for. His back is arched, his shoulders slumped, his head bent primitively forward – a Neanderthal who has yet to master walking erect. And yet the movie ends with a set-piece composition of all its players – Connery in back of frame glowering motivelessly as the focus racks away from him: Notice me, his face is saying. Somebody notice me.




*





‘I think I must have first met Sean at the weekly poker game a few of us – actors, directors, mostly Canadian directors, like me – used to play,’ says Alvin Rakoff. ‘We took turns to host it in our respective homes – though since Sean was living pretty much hand to mouth he was excused from that task. Christopher Mann, the agent, was a regular. On the direction side there was me, Ted Kotcheff, Hank [Henry] Kaplan, Silvio Narizzano. The actors were a more moveable feast, though Sean was a regular. And then there was Ronan O’Casey, Madge Ryan – an Australian – Daniel Massey and Adrienne Corri. One night Adrienne showed up and I said, “Sean, do you know Adrienne?” Everyone burst out laughing – because they knew each other all right.


‘Understandably, Sean was keen for work so we gave him a walk-on in Epitaph.4 And after that, every time he heard of a production, he would call and ask for work. I liked him. He was keen and wanted to learn. In fact, as a kind of private joke, I used him in multiple extra roles in one show, The Condemned.5 The play ended with a battle filmed at Dover Castle, and we had one shot in which Sean threw a grenade – then cut to another shot of him as another character with the grenade landing by him and he bites the dust.’6


We are talking here, of course, about non-speaking parts. For all the work Connery had put in with his Shakespeare and his tape recorder, Rakoff had no faith in his card-game acquaintance as a man to whom he could entrust dialogue. So six months later, when Rakoff’s future wife, the actress Jacqueline Hill, suggested he use Connery as the lead in his latest television production, he scoffed at the notion. ‘Sean Connery? You can’t understand a word he says,’ he remembers telling his wife. ‘Well,’ she told him, ‘the ladies would like it.’


The play in question was Rod Serling’s Requiem for a Heavyweight, and until Friday, 6 March 1957, three days before rehearsals were due to begin and three weeks before the show was due to go out, the lead was to have been played by Jack Palance.* Then the phone in Rakoff ’s office at the BBC rang and Palance’s US agent came on the line to tell him that, sorry, but Jack couldn’t make it after all. ‘I immediately had a few actors in mind to replace Palance as Mountain McClintock,’ recalls Rakoff, ‘but after what Jacqueline said I decided to invite Sean in. He came round late on the Saturday, and by the Sunday afternoon I’d narrowed the list down to just two actors: Connery and another then unknown actor called Peter Arne.† By the evening, I’d decided to take a chance on Sean.’




* Who had played the part on US television the previous year.


† Later a heavy in many an ITV actioner, he had a minor part in Blake Edwards’s The Return of the Pink Panther (1975).





For all Connery’s shoo-in potential as a muscle-bound fighter, it is difficult to exaggerate the risk Rakoff was taking with this decision. Connery had rarely said a word to camera – and in Requiem he would be required to say many words, all of them in whatever he could muster by way of an American accent. Indeed, as rehearsals progressed, Rakoff was told over and over again that he had screwed up. ‘Warren Mitchell, who played Sean’s trainer, was always on his side,’ he remembers, ‘but otherwise he had few supporters. Eric Pohlmann, the play’s gangland villain, laughed at me when I told him who was going to be playing the hero of the piece.’


Nor did Rakoff’s problems end there. Michael Barry, Rakoff’s mentor – and boss – at the BBC, was adamant that he was making a big mistake in using Connery in the lead role. Every day during rehearsals, Barry stopped by to tell Rakoff he wanted Connery fired. ‘But I told him, “Yes, I know Sean can’t really act. But I’ve designed the production in such a way that whenever he is really called on to do something big I’ll cut away from it to another piece of action.”’ Eventually Barry laid off, and the show went out on 31 March 1957, as the BBC’s Sunday Night Theatre presentation.


An anonymous review in the News Chronicle arguing that while Connery ‘looked absolutely right as the boxer … he did not quite seem able to bring the emotional tenseness of near-punch-drunkenness that Jack Palance must have given to the part in America’7 aside, the critical response was red hot. The movie producer Roy Boulting, guest reviewing with his brother John for the Evening Standard, thought it the ‘[second-] best piece of television I have seen’,8 while CEH in the Daily Echo thought ‘the acting … of Sean Connery … would have been hard to better’.9Elsewhere, ‘Sean was a knock-out!’10 claimed the Daily Mirror, his casting ‘a master stroke’11 according to The Stage, while the Daily Mail’s Peter Black wins the prize for 1957’s most prescient critic by writing of ‘Mr Connery’s performance [being] an outstanding demonstration of television acting from the inside. He is star material if ever I saw it.’12


‘If anyone had told me that Sean Connery was going to go on to become one of the biggest movie stars ever,’ says Rakoff, ‘I’d have laughed in their face. I remember saying to Jacqueline during rehearsals, “This guy John Atkinson* is going to go far.” Well, have you ever heard of John Atkinson? The thing is, though, that Sean was lucky. Because James Bond, the part that made him famous, required so little of him compared to the part I’d given him in Requiem.’




* An actor so far down the list that, like Michael Caine – who also appeared in the show – he didn’t make the credits in the Radio Times. Atkinson had also, incidentally, made a couple of appearances at the Q Theatre during the season Connery played there.
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